

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

DEVELOPMENTAL IDEALISM AND CULTURAL EXTINCTION IN THE SELECTED WORKS OF CHUMA NWOKOLO

ADAOBI NKEOKELONYE

FBMK 2021 61



DEVELOPMENTAL IDEALISM AND CULTURAL EXTINCTION IN THE SELECTED WORKS OF CHUMA NWOKOLO

By

ADAOBI NKEOKELONYE

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

August 2020

COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



DEDICATION

To my Mother

Whose noble dreams bowed to conventions,

but whose name Peace Udoka Nkeokelonye deserves to be written

in indelible places.



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

DEVELOPMENTAL IDEALISM AND CULTURAL EXTINCTION IN THE SELECTED WORKS OF CHUMA NWOKOLO

By

ADAOBI NKEOKELONYE

August 2020

Chairman Faculty : Associate Professor Hardev Kaur A/P Jujar Singh, Ph.D Modern Languages and Communication

To be developed, countries in Africa must comply with a development agenda, adopting the beliefs and values that inform the ideals of development. With strong links to modernization, the ideologies underpinning development as well as their impact and adoption in Africa have undergone critical studies. The impact of development is contingent on a people's culture, and thus can potentially be a threat that can trigger cultural extinction. The relationship between development and culture, and its potential link to cultural extinction arising from conflict of values is largely unexplored. Literary works produced within the African region have captured processes of culture and social change, depicting development issues in ways that are intellectually relatable. The struggle of minority people to sustain their culture in the face of the pressures of development is also captured in literary works. Notwithstanding, a sparsity of studies on literature that have substantively covered these phenomena and the remedial measures for addressing it, is observed. My study attempts to address these gaps by examining contemporary African literature for insight. Through a synthesis of theories and concepts which includes Arland Thornton's theory of Developmental Idealism and the concept of Cultural Extinction this study explores the intersections of development with the occurrence of cultural extinction. Eric Yamamoto's four-fold framework for inter-racial justice (recognition, reconstruction, responsibility and reparation), is also adopted to explore redress and remedial strategies adopted for eclipsing culture. The thematic relevance of works produced by Nigerian author Chuma Nwokolo justifies the selection of four novels from his body of work: Extinction of Menai (2018), One More Tale for the Road (2003), Diaries of a Dead African (2003) and The Ghost of Sani Abacha (2012). Textual analysis remains the central methodology of cultural studies. A systematic analysis of texts from the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo in the light of the theories and concepts employed reveal the representations of the values of developmental idealism across the four works. While cultural extinction is evidenced across the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo, rather than causality, the analysis establishes mostly that the ideational force of developmental idealism has a relationship of correlation to cultural extinction. Eric Yamatoto's four component framework; recognition, reconstruction, responsibility and reparation, are found to be most

applicable to the cultural remedial and redress approaches adopted across the four works only at the intra-cultural level. It is expected that the outcome of this study will inform policies, programmes and interventions of institutions that focus on achieving cultural sustainability across the world. Most importantly, it will inform remedial approaches for cultural revitalization.



Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia Sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktof Falsafah

IDEALISME PEMBANGUNAN DAN KEPUPUSAN BUDAYA DALAM KARYA TERPILIH CHUMA NWOKOLO

Oleh

ADAOBI NKEOKELONYE

Ogos 2020

Pengerusi: Hardev Kaur A/P Jujar Singh, Ph.D Fakulti: Bahasa Moden dan Komunikasi

Untuk menjadi sebuah negara yang membangun, negara-negara di Afrika perlu mematuhi agenda pembangunan dengan menyerap kepercayaan dan nilai mengikut kepada pembangunan yang ideal. Dengan adanya hubungan yang kukuh terhadap pemodenan, idealogi di bawah pembangunan serta kesan dan penyerapannya di Afrika telah dikaji secara kritikal. Kesan pembangunan bergantung kepada budaya rakyat, dan oleh itu ia adalah ancaman yang boleh mengakibatkan kepupusan budaya. Permerhatian menunjukkan terdapat kekurangan kajian yang mendalam terhadap hubungan antara pembangunan dan budaya, serta potensi kaitannya terhadap kepupusan budaya yang disebabkan oleh nilai konflik. Karya-karya sastera dari rantau Afrika telah menunjukkan proses kebudayaan dan perubahan sosial yang mengambarkan isu-isu pembangunan secara intelektual. Perjuangan masyarakat minoriti dalam mengekalkan budaya mereka ketika menghadapi tekanan pembangunan turut diterangkan dalam karya-karya sastera. Meskipun begitu, terdapat kekurangan kajian kesusasteraan yang meliputi sebahagian besar fenomena ini dan langkah pemulihan dalam menanganinya. Kajian ini mengetengahkan kekurangan tersebut dengan mengkaji kesusasteraan kontemporari dari Afrika. Melalui pergabungan teori dan konsep yang merangkumi teori Idealisme Pembangunan oleh Arland Thornton dan konsep Kepupusan Budaya, kajian ini mengkaji persilangan di antara pembangunan dan kejadian kepupusan budaya. Rangka kerja empat gabungan oleh Eric Yamamoto bagi keadilan antara kaum (pengiktirafan, pembentukan semula, tanggungjawab, dan reparasi) juga digunakan untuk mengkaji langkah-langkah pemulihan budaya yang diambang kepupusan. Tema yang saling berkait dalam karya yang dihasilkan oleh penulis Nigeria, Chuma Nwokolo menjustifikasi pemilihan empat buah novel dari karyanya iaitu: Extinction of Menai (2018), One More Tale for the Road (2003), Diaries of a Dead African (2003) dan The Ghost of Sani Abacha (2012). Analisis teks kekal sebagai metodologi utama kajian budaya. Analisis teks yang sistematik terhadap karya terpilih oleh Chuma Nwokolo adalah berpandukan kepada teori dan konsep yang digunakan untuk mengenal pasti representasi nilai idealisme pembangunan dalam empat karya tersebut. Walaupun kepupusan budaya dibuktikan dalam karya terpilih oleh Chuma Nwokolo, berbanding kebersebaban,

analisis menunjukkan kebanyakan daya ideasional idealisme pembangunan mempunyai perkaitan korelasi dengan kepupusan budaya. Empat komponen rangka kerja oleh Erik Yamatoto iaitu; pengiktirafan, pembentukan semula, tanggungjawab dan reparasi didapati paling sesuai bagi pedekatan pemulihan budaya dan pendekatan keselarasan ketidakseimbangan yang digunakan dalam empat karya tersebut pada peringkat antara budaya. Diharapkan dapatan kajian ini menyumbang kepada dasar, program-program dan campur tangan institusi yang tertumpu kepada pencapaian kelestarian budaya di seluruh dunia. Terutama sekali, ia menyumbang kepada pedekatan pendekatan pendekatan pendekatan pendekatan budaya.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Through this study, Assoc. Prof. Hardev Kaur meant everything to me. She went beyond the call of supervision, serving as my mentor, surrogate mother, counsellor and confidant. If I am able to serve my future students in half the measure she had served me, I would count myself successful.

To Assoc. Prof. Zariat Abdul Rani, the decision to accept me into the Literary and Cultural Studies programme was yours to make, thank you for not just endorsing my application, but for accepting to co-supervise me.

Dr. Mani Mangaimani, you never made me lack confidence in my ability, you cheered me on always and I remain grateful for your support as my co-supervisor.

To Assoc. Prof. Rosli Talif, I will remember always your fatherly concern for me on the day my broken self, walked into your office, thank you for placing me in the palms of Dr. Hardev.

To Dr. Nizam Osman whose presence and warmth convinced me to attend UPM.

To Professor Tejumola Olaniyan, your support made concluding my thesis at this time possible. In your death, I faced an existential crisis, yet your offering has taught me to live better.

My siblings Godson, Sylvester, Dozie, Nkem, Bash and Gbemmy, your faith and pride in me was my fuel through this. My Niece Adaife and my Nephew Akusinachi, to make the world liveable for you remains my inspiration. I remember my father whose personal choices made a new me possible, and I am grateful to my mother whose prayers I will always cherish.

My mini-mama Ijeoma Obiekwe, for all the times you picked and dropped me off at the airport, for all your support for my dreams, I thank you. My beloved Victoria Nwogu, "Omalicha" as I call you, you are the elder sister I wished for. Sponsoring all my holidays through this study is something I am immensely grateful for.

My Malaysian Sister Sabrina, Malaysia was a difficult country to live in until you came into my world, you will be in my heart forever. To my dear friend and sister Nada Alajmi, for all the beautiful memories you blessed me with in our time here. My Indonesian brother Rindu, you brought sunshine every time you proudly introduced me as your friend, ignoring the stereotypes.

To my beloved Wajihah Hamid, if Nurul's death couldn't stop your dream, nothing else should. Thank you for all your visits.

To Dr. Daniel Onwude, although you moved higher, I remember you always as my first brother here. To Dr. Chidozie Ugwu, you are the brother every girl needs in a foreign country, thank you so much. Ekemini Isokise, you made things easier with your offerings. To Innocent "Dr. Brother", I am grateful you are a colleague and brother.

My Brighton Brother, Dr. Uche Igwe, your support and confidence in me will not go unmentioned. I am honoured.

To Aunty Iheoma Obibi for always following up with my progress. To Adeola Olunloyo for never failing to cheer me on. To Onyeje Dickson for never failing to support and take pride in what I do. To Halima Sarki, for always standing by me and keeping faith in me.

To Chuma Nwokolo, you are a gift to our world. *The Extinction of Menai* is a blessing that will never leave my shelf. Thank You.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of the Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Hardev Kaur A/P Jujar Singh, Ph.D

Associate Professor Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Mohd Zariat Abdul Rani, Ph.D

Associate Professor Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Manimangai Mani, Ph.D

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:14 January 2021

Declaration by graduate student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software

Signature:	Date:
Name and Matric No: Adaobi Nkeokelonye, GS49046	

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) were adhered to.

Signature: Name of Chairman	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Assoc. Prof. Hardev Kaur A/P Jujar Singh
	PM
Signature:	
Name of Member of Supervisory	
Committee:	Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohd Zariat Abdul Rani
Signature:	
Name of Member	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Manimangai Mani

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABS ACI API DEC	PROVAI CLARA	LEDGEMENTS L FION	i iii v vii ix xiv
	APTER		
1		RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Background	1
	1.3	Statement of the Problem	8
	1.4	Objectives of the Study	11
	1.5	Research Questions	12
	1.6	Theoritical and Conceptual Framework 1.6.1 Theoritical Framework	12 12
		1.6.2 Conceptual Framework	12
	1.7	Methodology	13
	1.7	Justification of Texts	14
	1.9	Significance of Study	19
	1.10	Scope and Limitation	20
	1.11	Definition of Key Terms	20
	1.12		21
	1.13	Conclusion	23
2	LITE	CRATURE REVIEW	24
2	2.1	Introduction	24
	2.2	Understanding the Development and Under-Development Nexus	24
	2.3	Development in History	27
	2.4	Development in Africa: Aid as Apparatus	29
	2.5	Antimonies and Criticisms of Development	31
	2.6	Development as Hegemony	33
	2.7	Discourse on Culture and Development	34
	2.8	Literary Reflections on Cultures in Contact	36
	2.9	Discourse on Cultural Extinction	38
	2.10	Review of Cultural Remedial Mechanisms	40
	2.11	Conclusion	42
3	MET	HODOLOGY	43
	3.1	Introduction	43
	3.2	Methodology	44
	3.3	Theoretical Framework	45
	3.4	Developmental Idealism	46
		3.4.1 Developmental Idealism and Modernization Theory	46

		3.4.2 Developmental Idealism as a Cultural Model	47
		3.4.3 Conceptualizing Developmental Idealism	48
		3.4.4 Contextualizing Developmental Idealism	50
		3.4.5 Assertions on Dissemination	50
		3.4.6 Exploring Mechanisms of Dissemination	51
		3.4.7 Cultural clash and Resistance	52
	3.5	The Concept of Cultural Extinction	52
		3.5.1 Conceptualizing Cultural Extinction in Study Context	55
		3.5.2 Eric Yamototo's 'Four R Framework'	55
	3.6	Conclusion	58
4	ANAI	LYSIS OF SELECTED TEXTS	59
-	4.1	Introduction	59
	4.2	Representations of Developmental Idealism in the Selected W	
		Chuma Nwokolo	59
		4.2.1 Developmental Idealism in The Extinction of Menai	59
		4.2.2 <i>Diaries of a Dead African</i> through the Lens of Develo	
		Idealism	65
		4.2.3 <i>The Ghost of Sani Abacha</i> through the Lens of Develop	
		Idealism	67
		4.2.4 Developmental Idealism in <i>One More Tale for the Road</i>	
		4.2.5 On the Selected Works of Chuma Nwokolo: Sum	
		Findings	71
	4.3	Links between Developmental Idealism and Cultural Extinction	
	1.5	Selected Works of Chuma Nwokolo	76
		4.3.1 Cultural Extinction and Developmental Idealism	
		Extinction of Menai	76
		4.3.2 Cultural Extinction and Developmental Idealism in <i>Dia</i>	
		Dead African	85
		4.3.3 Cultural Extinction and Developmental Idealism in <i>Th</i>	
		of Sani Abacha	88
		4.3.4 Cultural Extinction and Developmental Idealism in Or	
		Tale for the Road	90
		4.3.5 On the Selected Works of Chuma Nwokolo: Sumr	
		Findings	95
	4.4	Cultural Remedial Approaches in the Selected Works of	Chuma
		Nwokolo	105
		4.4.1 Remedial Approaches in The Extinction of Menai	105
		4.4.2 Remedial Approaches in Diaries of a Dead African	113
		4.4.3 Remedial approaches in The Ghost of Sani Abacha	118
		4.4.4 Remedial Approaches in One More Tale for the Road	121
		4.4.5 The Selected Works of Chuma Nwokolo: Summary of F	Findings
			123
	4.5	Conclusion	130
5	CON	CLUSIONS	132
-	5.1	Introduction	132
	5.2	Summary of the Findings	132
	5.3	Conclusion of the study	136
	5.4	Contributions of the Study	140

	5.5	Suggestions for Further Studies	141
	5.6	Conclusion	141
6	REF	FERENCES	142
7	APF	PENDIX	154
8	BIODATA OF STUDENT		165
9	LIS	T OF PUBLICATIONS	166



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CIDA	Canadian International Development Agency
DFID	Department for International Development
EGIDS	Expanded Graded Intergenerational Disruption Scale
FAP	Federal Acknowledgment Process
ICESCR	International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights
IMF	International Monetary Fund
INGOS	International non-governmental organizations
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
NGO	Non-Governmental Organizations
PEPFAR	President's Emergency Plan for Aid Relief
RGS	Royal Geographical Society
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
UN	United Nations
UNESCO	United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNDESA	United Nations Department of Economic Social Affairs
UNDP	United Nation's Development Programme
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
WHO	World Health Organization

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

This chapter introduces the issues to be discussed. It offers a background of study, giving context to the key elements of this study. It provides a concise statement of the problem to make a case for why the problems deserve a study. Informed by gaps established in the problem statement, this chapter shares the objectives of study with an aligning research question. The Theoretical and conceptual framework of this study is presented in brief. The method adopted for this study is presented briefly to intimate the reader.

The justification of text provides a rationale for the choice of literary works selected for this study. It also provides the significance of the study with a statement on why the study is important, and its impact. The scope and limitations of this study will be discussed here to establish the parameters and focus areas of the study. To ensure a common understanding of some key terms, a detailed explanation of the technical terms that is operational within the context of study will be shared.

Finally, this thesis structure is presented in consistency with the structural features of thesis, to detail the schematic arrangement of the texts in a logical flow, to guide the reader.

1.2 Background

"Culture lies at the heart of world development." ~ Boli and Thomas (17)

Nobel Laureate Armateya Sen in his work "The concept of development" propounds that the enhancement of people's living conditions is an essential and integral part of the concept of global development (11). Michael Todaro further defines development as "a multi-dimensional process involving major changes in social structure, popular attitudes and national institutions, as well as the acceleration of economic growth, the reduction of inequality and the eradication of poverty" (16). Right after the era of colonization and at the end of the Second World War, the Four-Point-Speech of President Harry Truman marked the beginning of what is today known as liberal development. Consequentially, emerging from being *underdeveloped* to *developed* has become a global culture driving the pattern of social change and growth around the world.

Consistent with Armateya Sen's work on development, Samir Mahajan's study on "Human Development Index—Measurements, changes and evolution" posits that conforming to the frameworks of development by measuring national growth in line with the ideals of development is a phenomenon evidenced in the established Human Development Index of the United Nations. This index measures national growth in line with indicators that are drawn from global development ideals (1).

Developmental ideations held by people about everyday life is the crux of developmental idealism. Propounded by Arland Thornton, developmental idealism is the widespread ideas and theories of socioeconomic development held by people about everyday life. It represents a belief and value system that expresses that societal and familial attribute that are characterized as modern are better than attributes defined as traditional. It is perceived as a powerful cultural model with links to modernization (2). Primarily, developmental idealism projects freedom, equality and consent as universal rights, propounding ideas on positive cause-and-effect relationships of universal rights-related factors such as political governance, economic growth, health, educational achievement, and likewise strong values regarding many attributes of social arrangement with preference for small families, gender equality, and democratic governance (Thornton, Dorius and Swindle 2).

According to Thornton, developmental idealism defines whatever is characterized as modern as good and moral, and views the traditional and undeveloped as backward, bad and immoral (Thornton, International Family change and continuity 25). Tacitly accepted as having Eurocentric roots (Rist 257), these ideations gave rise to the invention of rank-order societies globally, whereby unlike other societies, the Western societies are designated as best representatives of development and worthy of emulation. The ideational force of developmental idealism drives the need for conformity to modern world culture among countries designated as underdeveloped. In summary, developmental idealism is a powerful cultural model that is widely disseminated and embedded deeply in many local, national, and global institutions. Whether adopted voluntarily or coercively, it substantially exerts influence over the trends and pace of global social change.

On the African continent, to be designated as developed is a critical mission of the governments and the people, as many communities continue to transition from agrarian to industrial societies. To be developed, countries in Africa must comply with a foreign development agenda. This agenda is operationalized through different agents of development: the state, individuals, and groups, including non-governmental, governmental and international organizations among others. Individuals act as agents through conscious and unconscious compliant decisions and actions taken daily (Hanlin and Brown 37), while other agents of development follow a conscious agenda. In line with the wide adoption of developmental thinking, international relations and diplomacy have been defined by the growing gap between the developed, the developing and the under-developed countries. This informs the constant capital inflow from the developed countries to those in the third world of which Nigeria is one (Andrews 8). The willingness to align with the development culture in most

African countries is marked with the provision of foreign aid by the countries especially from the West to further help strengthen the global development agenda in African communities (Moyo 7-9).

In tracing the evolution of development in Africa, Firoze and Carl studying "The Missionary position: NGO and Development in Africa" reveal that the global development agenda is further reinforced by the presence of a third sector, made up of institutions such as INGOs (international non-governmental non-governmental organizations) and national NGOs (non-governmental organizations). These institutions continue the works of their precursors (the missionaries), positioned as development machines, creating and consuming knowledge about Africa (568), purposed to drive change, significantly according to the dictates of the funding organizations and not necessarily with consideration of the realities of the people (Shivji 26-33; Moyo 7; Easterly 43).

Criticisms abound on the conceptual underlay of development. Critics of development argue that the nature of development as an imposition from the "developed" countries to the "developing" countries, or as William Easterly calls it, from the "West" to the "Rest" (7), remains a form of cultural imperialism as the values of the West are indirectly transmitted to the Rest. Gilbert Rist in his book *The History of Development: From Western Origins to Global Faith* argues that development could be responsible for the condition of impasse which most contemporary societies are stuck in. He propounds that development is inherently damaging to non-western culture, and likewise to their social relations and environment (14-7). He further argues that development is a selfish western project, metastasizing into a modern religion (23), masquerading as a solution but only further causing misery (46). For Rist, the ills of humanity could be found at the doormat of development (328).

Similarly, Sinclair-Maragh and Gursoy in their study exploring resident perceptions of development impact, conceptualizes development as a form of cultural imperialism. They posit that cultural imperialism happens when core nations own a means of teaching and the periphery nations become just the learners. They contend that the normative structure of countries includes their culture, thus through the mediums of economic and political power exercised both directly or indirectly, a core country can influence the normative structure of a periphery country, especially its culture, and this can be significantly negative (147).

C

Another relevant perspective on development for me, explores development as a form of cultural hegemony. Cultural hegemony essentially represents the economic, cultural, ideological and overall social influences exerted by a dominant group over another. The framing of development is marked with features of hegemonism, realizable in the uneven affective power of development. Wolfgang Sach in writing the preface of *The Development Dictionary* posits that an important motive that drives development until today is "Hegemonic power". Alluding to its power of cultural domination, he notes that the rights to cultural self-identity are compromised by people's embrace of the development world view (ix). The underlying power relationships inherent in development practice cannot be ignored, as it provides a foreground in this study for understanding the modifications of culture that occur as a result of the adoption of the ideas and values of development.

Dare Arowolo in studying "The effects of western civilization and culture on Africa" argued that Eurocentric cultural modes of growths can lead to cultural extinction and drought African values (2). Cultural extinction relates to the death of existing cultural values and practices mostly as a result of an externally induced social change. Nickerson et al. in "Fear of cultural extinction and psychopathology among Mandaean refugees: an exploratory path analysis" defines cultural extinction as the loss of elements that are distinctive and essential to the identity of a specific cultural group, these elements include language of communication, rituals, religion, morals, beliefs, and customs (227). Generally, the process of subtly or forcefully introducing a cultural value or belief to a group with pre-existing culture could be seen as inciting cultural extinction. Thus, the processes of spreading the culture of development in countries, communities and groups with already established culture of their own threatens the sustainability of minority cultures.

It is claimed that development can, through its drive for cultural globalization, threaten indigenous cultures and their values. Martin Mowforth in his work The Violence of Development: Resource Depletion, Environmental Crises and Human Rights Abuses in Central America highlights this in his arguments that the ideations of development are central to the destructions faced by indigenous groups (1-14, 150-169). The negative effects of development on the culture of people placed within the hierarchies of developing and under-developed countries are largely unexplored. A review of the scholarship exploring linkages between development practice and cultural extinction reveals a sparsity of data, as various works have focused on either concept specifically or in relation to other phenomenon. In reference to this, I draw attention to the study by Fathu Rahman and PriheLetora on "Cultural Preservation: Rediscovering the Endangered Oral Tradition of Maluku", which highlights cultural extinction, positing that the extinction of cultural heritage portends an invaluable loss for generations to come. Their study attributes the extinction of culture to factors of modernity, and the young generation's lack of cultural awareness, among others. Susanne Rudolph in her work "Transnational Religion and the Fading State" also alludes to cultural extinction, associating modernization processes with deracination and threats of cultural extinction (1). Other scholars have equally taken similar position on modernization accelerating extinction through the destruction of indigenous ways of life (Baudrillard 69).

Although development is strongly linked with the values of modernization, they both share similarities and dissimilarities that makes them remain different concepts. Development utilizes apparatus of modernization (Jolly et al. 88) but, it is peculiar in its ways (Portes 257). Both development and modernization are concepts that focus on social change with an appeal for all things western, patterning change or growth in every society in linear or stage-wise forms, and often imposing a binary relationship

amongst countries and regions of the world (Gardner and Lewis 1). While modernization is invested in industrialism, expansion of productive work force and markets and other factors that inform it, development has grown beyond that (Corina 9). Development is interventionist, it is institutionalized and then there is the professionalization of it comprises of a set of practices (economic, social, political and cultural) (Rist 11-3). The United Nations holding its leading role amongst development institutions communicates the objectives of development to be the achievement of structural and qualitative changes in society, that enables equity in distribution, the expansion of educational, nutritional, health, social welfare, housing and other facilities (Sarnoff 165). In recent decades, development is measured with established indexes of economic and human development that drives the adoption of its agenda globally.

Emerging patterns of social change in the African continent is discernibly framed in the language of development. It therefore cannot be assumed that a causal link between the practice and ideologies of development, and cultural extinction is established by studies that associate modernization to cultural extinction. Understanding how the key issues that underpin the adoption and practice of development has been adopted or negotiated, and how it has impacted established cultures is important. Establishing its links to cultural extinction is imperative. Exploring this through the spaces of literature is a focus of this study.

Homi Bhabha in his work The Location of Culture highlights the role of people in the imagined community, especially novel writers in Africa in capturing social change in ways that enables intellectual meditations on the issues they highlight (5). Literary works especially within the African region have through the modern age depicted the struggle of minority peoples to sustain their culture in the face of enforced social change through resisting forms of disempowerment. An example will be the work of South African novelist Bessie Head. In her novel When Rain Clouds Gather (1968) she captures this by presenting the character of a British man Gilbert Balfour whose idealist vision of agricultural development in Bostwana resulted in conflict. Gilbert arrives Bostswana with an independent agricultural development aid plan which was focused on introducing improved techniques of food production for the Golema nmidi, a small agrarian village in Botswana. He perceives the people's traditional ways of farming as primitive (19). He was convinced that cattle cooperative was a grand scheme that will bring development to Golema nmidi (18). For the people of Golema nmidi whom land forms a central part of their existence, Gilbert's criticism for their existing land tenure system brings them to a head on clash and puts him at the centre of a violent storm (35). This narrative of cultural conflict and resistance is not uncommon in African literature.

Jordan John in "Culture conflict and social change in Achebe's Arrow of God" notes that Sub-Saharan African literary works have dominantly been concerned with cultural conflicts, the impact of colonialism, the collapse of the old order, the effects on people and the repercussion on societies (66). In spite of the values some of these works hold by establishing the realities of conflict and clash that happens as a result of differing cultural ideologies, there is still a sparsity of literary studies that have substantively covered an eventual cultural eclipse and the remedial measures for addressing it. More so the linkages of culture death and development practices have not been established clearly in literature (Roach 47-66; Lawson 189-95; Ugwuanyi 68-90; Saber 1-7; Sundram 613-16).

Understanding the values of development and how it intersects with cultural extinction can be done by adopting a set of interrelated ideas, models and theories. In establishing specific ideologies of development that will be understudied, Arland Thornton's theory of developmental idealism cultural model has been adopted against the backdrop of modernization theory which it draws from. As factored in the concept of development, the values of developmental idealism: human rights, freedom, egalitarianism, idealization of modernity, education, individualism amongst others will be explored from a literary perspective to understand the ways they are represented and adopted, at individual and communal level, and further examine their causal relationship with cultural extinction.

Crucial to this study is the need to explore links between developmental ideations of people and cultural extinction. But the real impact of this study will be measured by its ability to not just create awareness of a potential causal link between two phenomena, but its ability to evaluate and establish effective remedial interventions that can be adopted in likely cases of cultural extinction. To advance this, this study explores the applicability of Professor Eric Yamototo's framework which is commonly adopted as a means for addressing interracial and intercultural injustice (10-11). Anthony Connolly in his work *Indigenous Rights* proposes that Yamomoto's framework composing of the four components of "combined enquiry and action", provides a good foundation for achieving intercultural justice. This study will therefore explore the applicability of the four components (recognition, responsibility, reconstruction, and reparation) in the contexts of their adoption and effectiveness as a remedial intervention.

Adopting African literary works as its site of enquiry, this study will explore works of literature written within similar historical periods and with very strong focus on projecting the African society, bearing on relevant themes that are vital to the study objectives. Following a strategic forage of African literature, the works of an African and Nigerian national, Chuma Nwokolo was selected as his novels and poetry invite a study through the potentials they hold thematically. Hence, the site of inquiry to achieve the objectives of the study will be African literature in general, and the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo specifically.

Chuma Nwokolo represents a cohort of modern African writers who carry a sense of social and political responsibility in their work by bringing to the fore the social development concerns of the African continent. Born in 1963 and having an impressive collection of literary works: twelve books written over three decades, he is not just known for his writing but for his politics as well. Through his writings and

activism, Chuma Nwokolo challenges social injustice and the loss of cultural values. He also examines societal re-arrangements enabling individualism in nuclear family structures in Africa and Nigeria in particular, where the extended family structure is being eclipsed. Culminating in a good governance project called the "Bribecode", his books, essays and speeches embody a contestation of the culture of governance in the African space, with an underlying culpability of the Western countries in producing a corrupt Africa.

I must here refer to "The Extended Family and the Trojan Horse" which Chuma Nwokolo presented in honour of Chinua Achebe's (1977) Amherst lecture, "An Image of Africa". In this presentation, he brings to height Achebe's dreams of changes in the power relations between African countries and the Western Countries:

Perhaps a change will come. Perhaps this is the time when it can begin...There is just the possibility that Western man may begin to look seriously at the achievements of other people...And I saw in my mind's eye future African Peace Corps volunteers coming to help you set up the system. (1)

He also educes what represents his politics of social injustice (and for me, an analogy of the proliferation of what could symbolize the spread of developmentalism) in a simple plot of a story recalled from his teenage years, the fiction novel by Robert Heinlein (1951) called *The Puppet Masters*:

Earth was invaded by alien parasites which took over the human race one person at a time. Conversion was by contact, and the ultimate horror was having a loved one turn automaton, their loyalty switching from family, country, and race to the invaders from outer space. (2)

Chuma Nwokolo's works have been chosen for their narrative ability to represent the way of life of the post-independent African societies with tales that are so particular and universal at the same time. Showcasing important facets of both rural and urban culture in the minutiae of daily life, his works also traverse countries and regions to offer a plethora of rich stories. His works, though written in English, have not lost their native quality.

 \mathbb{C}

Through the exploration of works of Chuma Nwokolo, *The Extinction of Menai* (2018) reinforced by *Diaries of a Dead African* (2003), *The Ghost of Sani Abacha* (2012) and *One More Tale for the Road* (2003) (for brevity, all of these works will be referred to as "the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo), this study strives to achieve its objectives. Within the texts of the selected works, this study will focus on understand the representations of developmental idealism, how its values are expressed or conflicted, the processes that lead to cultural extinction in traditional African societies, and the remedial interventions that can be adapted to save a dying culture.

1.3 Statement of the Problem

Discussing "Culture and Development", Armateya Sen shared that, "cultural matters are integral parts of the lives we lead. If development can be seen as enhancement of our living standards, then efforts geared towards development can hardly ignore the world of culture" (1). There is an interdependent relationship between development and culture, Sen advances this in arguing that culture and development are interlinked in various ways; their connectedness relate both to the means and ends of development. Both phenomena have the power to negate the sustainability of each other, hence an understanding of their intricate connection is important (1-27). However, achieving an adequate understanding of their interconnections is a challenge because of their complexity. In academic discourse, more focus has been given to their prospective benefits and less to the potential threat they pose: the extinction of culture.

In his work, Nathan Andrew in "Foreign Aid and Development in Africa" presented the arguments that highlights the inconvenient relationship that exists in understanding the culture and development nexus especially for development economics by arguing that culture is not a hindrance to development. His work stressed on how the understanding of the interrelatedness of the two phenomenon is possible by drawing on differentiated examples of real-world societies of Ghana and South Korea to emphasise how their cultural values influence their socio-economic development who in the early 1960s were comparatively at the same economic growth level (13). Nathan's work like others, is an example of studies which I find that only highlights the potential benefits an understanding of the relationship between the two phenomenons can have. This work clearly does not prioritize the potentials of these phenomenon to pose a threat that can provoke cultural extinction.

Worth noting is the work of Mbakogu Ifeyinwa in "Is There Really a Relationship Between Culture and Development?" assesses the culture-development relationship, highlighting issues that could have accounted for the gradual disintegration of cultural heritage. Through her work, she attributes cultural disintegration to both internal and external factors, highlighting the role of western values in Africa and the de-valuing of culture in implementing development agenda as counter-productive (37-43). While Mbakogu's work highlights the development-culture nexus in an uncommon but impressive way, my review finds that it lacks details on how beliefs and values of development is linked to cultural disintegration.

The developmental idealism theory and cultural model propounded by Arland Thornton is perceived as a fundamental force of culture around the world and most importantly, as a significant force provoking cultural clashes within and between societies worldwide. Arland Thornton propounds that the developmental idealism culture which is Eurocentric (as many of its tenets are derived from the cultures of northwest Europe) has been a vital force behind cultural clashes within and between societies that are non-European (1-3). My effort towards identifying literature which reveals extensively how developmental idealism results in culture clash, suggests a dearth. The work of Arland Thornton "International Family Change and Continuity: The Past And Future From The Developmental Idealism Perspective" presents developmental idealism with its intellectual underpinnings, and its consequences with a focus on understanding its influence on family changes and how it is likely to influence the future. It finds that developmental idealism values are disseminated beyond western countries, remaining a force for social change in the future. While serving as a framework for understanding culture around the world, it is also noted as remaining the locus of much resistance, tension, and conflict within and between societies. However, my review of it shows that this study makes a broad claim on dissemination of developmental idealism, but it doesn't however explicate this occurrence of cultural clash. My study therefore exports the claims made here into the imagined spaces to determine its validity.

Being a model that has been used in understanding the patterns of social change globally, there is a growing body of work to evidence its dissemination across continents. These studies, which have been mostly quantitative, have succeeded in establishing its wide dissemination even in parts of the world where resistance is expected. But these studies have had minimal focus on countries within the African continent. More so, studies exploring the potency of the developmental idealism within the context of African culture and African literary works are lacking. In the study "Developmental Idealism and Cultural Models of the Family in Malawi", Thornton et al. examine the degree of spread of developmental idealism in an African country, Malawi. Their study was informed by an established paucity of study and systemic data on how widespread developmental idealism is in sub-Saharan Africa, or the ways in which the knowledge of developmental idealism is associated with specific demographic characteristics in the African region (3). Whereas it may be argued that Malawi can represent African society, this study of Malawi only explores a single component of the culture, leaving much to be investigated, concerning the impact of developmental idealism on other cultural components in Africa. A review of the work by Thornton et al on "Knowledge and Beliefs about National Development and Developmental Hierarchies: The viewpoints of ordinary people in thirteen countries" focused on a quantitative study of 13 diverse countries to elicit their patterns of understanding of developmental hierarchies. Their study finds similarities in patterns of understanding and developmental thinking in consistency with the claims. However, notwithstanding the evidenced global spread, less is known about the diffusion of developmental thinking in African societies from this study as Malawi continues to be the representative African country these studies have engaged (1053-68).

It will be valuable to further expand the growing body of work on the relevance and spread of developmental idealism in Africa, especially from a literary lens. Literary works are didactic and important cultural artefacts that illuminate the beliefs, values and overall history of a people. Fathu Rahman and PriheLetora in their work posit that literature is potentially positioned to represent human cultures (1). African literary works in their diversity presents the African history and traditions in their relevant eras and stages of social change, making them a great source of cultural information. Whereas African literary works have been studied for insight into diverse social change processes, what is largely unexplored is their representation of developmental thinking. The tenuous discourse on the linkages between literatures and development studies, is noted; it is observed that literature is a source of authoritative knowledge on development, although not well acknowledged as a source in scholarly works (Lewis et al.198). Angelica Lawson in her study, *Resistance and resilience in the work of four Native American authors* focuses on diverse writers of fiction to explore how writers adapt or adopt concepts from their tribal cultures in producing literature, in spite of the attempts to silence their culture (189-95). While Lawson's work establishes the struggle for resistance and resistance in promoting a resilience theory, it does not highlight the role of developmental values inherent in contesting cultures.

In the work "Postcolonialism and the Politics of Resistance in Ngugi Thiong'o's Wizard of the Crow", Uugwuanyi utilizes African literature to centralize his arguments that Africa's greatest developmental struggle is rooted in cultural inequality rooted in Western colonization and cultural imperialism. Ugwuanyi in this work challenges African writers to utilize their space and agency to awaken the cultural consciousness of people, as he presents Ngugi's *Wizard of the Crow* as an exemplar. Whereas Ugwuanyi's work does well to show the potentials of literature offering a lens for understanding culture and further concludes by implicating the oppressive reliance of African countries on Western development aid (68-90), it has no strong focus on the phenomenon of culture death. Beyond highlighting resistance, resilience and struggles of culture in contact as expressed in African literature, a gap remains in identifying works of literature that substantively covers the phenomenon of cultural extinction in the African literary space.

Relatedly, cultural extinction is a phenomenon that affects countries globally. Eclipsing languages and other cultural values across the world give credence to this growing phenomenon, David Crystal in his work Language Death captures the disturbing level of extinction (1-5). Causes are attributed to modernization or economic growth. Development has been associated with inevitable social changes and drastic cultural changes resulting in the loss of the essence of a people's culture (Taj and Ali 37). Whereas studies highlighting cultural extinction and its relationship with development values exist, they are predicated on historical documentations and quantitative data. The study on "Causes and Consequences of Rapid Erosion of Cultural Values in a Traditional African Society" by Wahab et al. examined the causes and consequences of rapid erosion of cultural values in Africa and Nigeria in particularly. This study utilizes quantitative survey data to establish a positive relationship between social forces such as colonialism, westernization and the erosion of cultural values, concluding that forceful imposition of foreign culture should be discouraged (1-6). In difference to Wahab et al.'s study, Jacob Babafemi's in his study "Cultural Imperialism and the Evolution of White Africa" drives the argument that cultural changes observable in ways African's communicate and the influence of western media on African ways of living places Africans on the path of cultural extinction, all from the point of review of relevant past studies (1-5). None of these works have explored the imagined spaces as a source potentially capable of offering an understanding of how the intervening development culture can provoke cultural extinction in the African society.

Gienow-Hecht in her study "Academics, Cultural Transfer, and the Cold War" draws attention to the fact that fictional narratives such as movies and novels hold valuable descriptions of how culture and development intersects (465), this acknowledgement speaks to the importance of understudying the literary spaces to gain understanding of the phenomenon. Review of literature so far evidence the strength of literary work, yet a gap in establishing studies that have used literary works to substantiate arguments on cultural extinction exists. The sparsity of literary works that embody this might be given as reason for such, however it is noteworthy that few works of literature have been able to capture the processes and narratives of cultural extinction, notwithstanding, they are under-sourced for insight.

Offering narratives that adequately presents urban and rural dichotomies, Chuma Nwokolo's stories presents a good case in point of African literary works that detail holistic narratives of how some African cultural values and practices go extinct as a result of their exposure and adoption of developmental ideals. Yet to the best of my knowledge, the works of Chuma Nwokolo has not been studied in this direction. In his work "Slavery, Death, and the Village: Localizing Imperatives of Nigerian Writing", Osinubi Adetunji in utilizing a close reading oof Chuma Nwokolo's work: *Diaries of a Dead African*, highlight the uses of expanded geographical imaginaries, and also the global circulation of the Nigerian novels. It presents elements of the village novel as a genre and the ideas of the village as an important iteration of African spaces (131-52). The focus on the village element in his work does cover his objectives but does nothing to offer relevance to the dimension of this present study which seeks to study Nwokolo's body of work from the dimension that seeks links between development and cultural extinction.

Whereas these literary works potentially make huge contributions to the discourse on cultural extinction within African communities, such insight can only be projected with a comprehensive analysis situated within relevant contexts. Situating the narratives of some selected works of Chuma Nwokolo within the discourse on cultural extinction and its causes, is the aim of this study.

1.4 Objectives of the Study

Overall, the objective of this study is to utilize literary work in contributing to the discussions around development practices and the potential consequences of cultural extinction which they pose. Specifically, this study has three objectives:

- 1. To examine the values of developmental idealism represented in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo.
- 2. To investigate causal linkages between developmental idealism and cultural extinction in selected works of Chuma Nwokolo.
- 3. To explore cultural remedial approaches adopted to revitalize culture in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo.

1.5 Research Questions

Consistent with the objectives presented above, this study poses the following research questions:

- 1. How are the values of developmental idealism represented in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo?
- 2. Are there causal links between developmental idealism and cultural extinction in selected works of Chuma Nwokolo?
- 3. What cultural remedial approaches are adopted to revitalize Culture in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo?

1.6 Theoritical and Conceptual Framework

1.6.1 Theoritical Framework

In this study, theories and concepts serve to aid the understanding of the issues under study. They present systematic ways through which character's behaviours, situations and events are understood. I have adopted a set of substantiated interrelated ideas on the social phenomenon of culture and development to aid in executing the study in line with the set objectives.

Drawing from the modernization theory, the developmental idealism theory by Arland Thornton recaptures the values of development, espousing its values and the underlying beliefs that drive its adoption. Arland Thornton's theory is appropriate for its central ideas and its relevance for understanding ideas of development and its dissemination. A part of the proposition in developmental idealism is laying claims to inducing social changes across the world, and consequently posing as a significant force that provokes cultural clashes within and between cultures. Inherent in this proposition is the potential of causality for cultural extinction (Thornton 1-3).

In alignment with modernization theory, Thornton posits that at the core of developmental idealism is the valuing of what is modern over the traditional. In opposite to traditional, the modern here manifests in sets of orientation that are characterized by individualism which denounces the collective dependency and seeks for independence of the individual. Egalitarianism is another core characteristic especially in family structures where women are empowered, and the nuclear family unit is extoled. Urbanism which promotes life in the urban areas as ideal in place of the countryside, education, geographic mobility (Portes 249-50), and essentially the attributes of freedom which places the individual at the centre of the world are representative of the values of the developmental idealism (Thornton, Dorius and Swindle, 2015: 70).

The general ideas of cultural extinction being the death of a culture, serve to inform the concept which will be used here. As expatiated by several authors, cultural extinction entails the loss of features in a social system, a fracture in the entirety of a people's way of life (Nickerson et al. 227; Cornell 229; Hartley and Pott 187). Lewis Paul and Gary Simons in "Assessing Endangerment: Expanding Fishman's GIDS" established the criteria for determining "nearly extinct" and "extinct" languages respectively (11-5). Their prescriptions in the EGIDS (Expanded Graded Intergenerational Disruption Scale) which sets parameters for establishing the status of the language element of culture is adapted to aid in systematically defining and determining the extinction of culture.

Professor Eric Yamototo's "Four 'R' framework" is proposed as apposite for addressing intercultural injustice (Chang 114-17). Yamototo's framework is comprised of four components of combined enquiry. According to him, "recognition" is the first step for redress. Recognition involves the act of acknowledging the injustice done to a group or community, empathizing, and weighing the gravity and impact of the harm done to a people. The second component of the combined enquiry is "responsibility". Responsibility entails the acceptance of obligations, being held accountable to the healing, by the offenders and the offended. Validating this stage is a determinant to what the response in other stages will be. In "reconstruction" being the third part of the combined enquiry, the constructive acts of apology and forgiveness must be expressed. This sets the pace for the repair of inter-group relations. Reparation being the last part of the combined enquiry represents the act of applying material changes towards the rebuilding of relationships and repairing damages in structural forms (Yamamoto 10-11).

1.6.2 Conceptual Framework

In difference to the theoretical framework above which represents the relationships between the existing ideas espoused and the phenomenon under study, the conceptual framework of this study embodies specific means through which the study will be undertaken.

My first objective of study examines the values of developmental idealism represented in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo. The Developmental Idealism theory by Arland Thornton and its propositions has been positioned to offer a lens for examining how the values of developmental idealism are represented across the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo.

The second objective of study is focused on investigating if there are causal linkages between developmental idealism and cultural extinction in selected works of Chuma Nwokolo. Inherent in Arland Thornton's developmental idealism theory is the proposition that values it espouses is inducing social changes across the world, and thus becomes a significant force that incites cultural clashes within and between culture. These propositions will be further explored across the four works of Chuma Nwokolo to determine its potency for provoking cultural extinction. The general ideas of cultural extinction being the death of a culture as defined by Nickerson et al (227) and the established criteria set by Lewis Paul and Gary Simons in "Assessing Endangerment: Expanding Fishman's GIDS" informs the framework within which the phenomenon of cultural extinction will be evidenced across the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo.

The third objective of study is to explore cultural remedial approaches adopted to revitalize culture in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo. Proposed as an apposite for addressing intercultural injustice is Professor Eric Yamototo's "Four 'R' framework" (Chang 114-17) with its four components of combined enquiry: "recognition", "responsibility", "reconstruction" and "reparation" (Yamamoto 10-11). How these sets of ideas can aid in determining approaches adopted within the spaces of Nwokolo's work remains unknown. To address this knowledge gap, these components will be applied to analyse the third objective of this study within the confines of the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo.

1.7 Methodology

In executing this study, I am adopting textual analysis as a method of analysis to enable me to address the objectives of study. Engaging the texts will enable me to have thorough knowledge of the content and aid in explicating the meanings ascribed to them.

Being a qualitative study prioritizing textual data, textual analysis is used to appraise texts in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo. Textual analysis will be used to understand how the characters make sense of their world and their experiences, and equally communicate it. Through a reflection of the larger social structures that are presented, I will be using this analytical approach to analyse actions, behaviours, and communications portrayed by characters. The agency of characters and their physical realities is equally important.

Arland Thornton's developmental idealism theory and cultural model is adopted to aid an understanding of the cultural realities of the characters in situ in their communities, and as they negotiate with the outside world and with people from alien cultures. The concept of cultural extinction and some adapted parameters are adopted to explore the outcomes of engagement between people of different cultural beliefs and values in the works of Chuma Nwokolo. This is followed by the adoption of Eric Yamamoto's 'Four R' framework to explore approaches that are adapted to address intercultural relations. Through the study commentaries, I will be making use of diverse texts generated through literature review, drawn from scholarly work that I find to provide insight and validity to the findings of this study. In addition to the selected texts, quotes extracted from my discussions with the author Chuma Nwokolo will be used to further validate the analysis of data where necessary. A more detailed presentation of methodology adopted for this study can be found in chapter three of this thesis.

1.8 Justification of Texts

Literary works are valuable cultural artefacts that illuminate the beliefs, values and overall history of a people. They can be a rich resource on cultural information especially within the African space. Appreciating the value of literature, this study utilizes it as its site of inquiry. In focusing on understanding the links between the adoption and practice of development and cultural extinction in African societies, it adopts the spaces African literary spaces.

My search for literature was driven by the need to identify literary works that enable insights into diverse social change processes and the development phenomena. I sought for works that highlight African societies, in minutiae, as they interact with foreign ideas through negotiation or resistance. In line with this, I found the need to explore contemporary writers whose works thematically aligned with the study theme. Also important was the need for their writings to be mostly positioned within the African continent and specifically within a common geography that informs a relatable cultural cluster. Geographical similarity was necessary in ensuring that the settings projected in the stories had cultural relatability. Works that cumulatively projected narratives that was richly diverse, traversing both urban and rural experiences of characters, rich enough to enable an ethnographic enquiry were found appropriate for this study.

Whereas various works of literature exist to highlight themes of culture in conflict, a dearth of novels that postulate extensively the phenomena of cultural extinction and its provocations is noted through my search. My reviews were thus streamlined to the works of two contemporary Nigerian writers: Ositadimma Amakeze and Chuma Nwokolo whose works held potentials for offering insight into the phenomena of cultural extinction. Both writers being of Igbo extraction have the settings of their work within the eastern Nigerian region which is predominantly Igbo.

Ositadinma's work *The Last Carver* for example projects the story of the Nigerian Igbo society Umuokwe whose valuable cultural practice goes extinct with the death of the village carver: "Omenka the great carver is dead" (13). Omenka's death is the cause of grief for the people of Umuokwe, not just for the reason of brotherhood, but for the role he played as the custodian of a valuable cultural heritage. The fact that Omenka's only son failed to learn his trade results in an unbridgeable knowledge gap. Consequently, Omenka's great masquerade carving skill also suffers death as he dies:

Here the elders are seated by his lonely bamboo bed heaving heavy sighs of mournful sorrows. Beneath it lay his chisel, a hedge of wood, a calabash containing congealed *uli* and other carving tools. They too are dying of an unfamiliar idleness after over sixty years of creative craft in the hands of Omenka and his father. Because we buried Omenka with his feet facing the entrance to his compound, we knew he would journey well to his ancestors. But whether his tools will journey well in the hands of another, only the gods could tell... could we reverse the day to see Omenka sitting on his rumps, humming and carving our masquerade? (13-14)

Ositadinma Amakeze's work holds thematic relevance to this study, I find that his work equally has the geographical relevance needed. However, the fact that he only has a single publication that bear relevance to my study made his work insufficient in terms of volume for the study.

Bearing in mind that this study was not designed with comparison as a goal, the narrative of a single author sufficed. Chuma Nwokolo's works have not only reflected the characteristics reflected above for this study. His works across literary forms of poetry and prose have indicated the potentials that suggest their suitability for this study. The settings of his works were relatable both geographically and culturally. The author positioned his works in the eastern region of Nigeria, creating fictional communities with identifiable cultural consistency:

Much of my short fiction for instance is located in the imagined community of Waterside, a small village that thinks like a town. I believe that big-city emotions can play out by a humble riverside and that even urbanized readers can find their emotional lives replicated in the dilemmas of rural characters. (Nwokolo 2019)

The thematic relevance of his works is noted in his decade-long interest on the theme of cultural extinction. His poetry works evidence this. In *Memories of Stone* (2006), the writer marks his interest in advocating for the extinction of languages by dedicating some of his Ashmolean poems 'Edge of Extinction' (120) and 'Dim Kaini Kamoye' (109) to the theme. His last book of poetry 'The Final Testament of a Minor God' (2014) equally furthers this cause with poems like 'Funeral for Words' (68). In the poem "Extinction" (191), the author captures the concept of extinction in nine simple words: "On Faroe Island/ is Muli village/ with zero people."

I have selected this author's works for its narrative ability to present stories that recapture post-independent African societies in relatable ways. Bearing in mind the relevance of the modern and traditional dichotomy in this study, I find that Chuma Nwokolo's works portray important facets of both rural and urban culture in very

intricate ways, while enabling an understanding of how characters negotiate their relationship with the outside world.

Consistently Nwokolo's adoption of novelized anthologies revitalizes the tradition of storytelling, a valuable ancient cultural practice of Igbo people, which he identifies with. Margaret Macdonald's collections *Traditional Storytelling Today* presents a rich discourse on story telling culture amongst the Igbo people (33) and the larger Sub-Saharan African spaces, revealing it is a practice nearing extinction (9-10). In Chuma Nwokolo's works, they find a restorative space. The anthologies represented in most of Chuma Nwokolo's work ensures that his works are broad-based and rich in themes and characters. His style of writing allows the characters to tell their stories, thus ensuring that critical incidents that are noteworthy are captured. Seeing the world through Nigerian and African spectacles, his works point to an authentic knowledge gained from robust observation and understanding of the social realities of the Nigerian people as they relate and negotiate with the rest of the world.

Chuma Nwokolo has to his credit over Ten literary works. His debut work, *The Extortionist* (1983) was published by Macmillan Publishers. His novel *Dangerous Inheritance* (1988) was also published by as part of the pacesetter series by Macmillan Publishers. Also published are his works *Diaries of a Dead African* (2003), *The Ghost* of Sani Abacha (2012), and One More Tale for the Road (2003). How to Spell Naija in 100 Short Stories (Volume 1) (2013) and How to Spell Naija in 100 Short Stories (Volume 1) (2013) and How to Spell Naija in 100 Short Stories (Volume 2) (2016) are part of his recent works published partly in celebration of Nigeria's centenary celebration. His poetry collections are *Memories of Stone* (2006) and *The Final Testament of a Minor God* (2014). In 2018, Chuma Nwokolo released his latest Novel, *The Extinction of Menai*. Of the above-listed, this study will focus mainly on four of his works, selected for their relevance.

Through the exploration of all his works, I have selected his novels and some of his most recent works; *The Extinction of Menai* (2018), *Diaries of a Dead African* (2003), *Ghost of Sani Abacha* (2012) and *One More Tale for the Road* (2003).

The Extinction of Menai being the latest work of Chuma Nwokolo, centrally explores language and culture loss while contributing to the discourse on Language rights. Set across the continents of Africa and Europe, this novel projects the Menai people from Kreektown in Nigeria's Niger Delta. The Menai ethnic group are fictional descendants of the historic Meroe civilization which was contemporaneous with Ancient Egypt. In historic times, the Meroes colonized Ancient Egypt at the height of their illustrious civilization, but in the 21st century, in Chuma Nwokolo's fiction, the Menai are reduced to the global population of a few hundreds and threatened daily by the death of each member. The now small minority ethnic nation is pitted against their government and a British multinational whose rogue drug trial triggers genocidal consequence for the Menai, their language and culture. As their clock runs down, the remaining Menai fight, not just for justice but also their lives, their dying language and their way of life. Portraying the unfolding apocalypse looming over the Menai,

are principal characters who all lend their voices to the narratives. Most notable is the role of the leader of the Menai nation, Mata Nimito, who in a quest to preserve the soul of his people retraces their ancient migration to resolve centuries-old betrayals.

The Ghost of Sani Abacha is a collection of short stories, comprising of some stories which I have found applicable to this study. Stories like *The provocation of Jay Galamba*, and *The Ghost of Sani Abacha* can be viewed as the satirical representation of the practice of governance as its applicable to Nigeria today. In *Bullsfight*, a poignant story on resistance to the threat of extinction of natural resources in the waterside village is rendered. *In Seer & Sons* the greyman's effort to transfer a skill that was dying out is noted. With some politically inclined stories, it covers several cultural themes of the Nigerian society in the aftermath of military autocracy, an antithesis to the traditional governance systems and a challenge to the Western democracy highlighted as a developmentalism to developing countries.

In *Diaries of a Dead African (2003)*, Meme Jumai the farmer and his two sons render the impact of the culture of indifference in their traditional society, where there is a growing adoption of the individual over the collective in the sharing of the pains of poverty and the gains of wealth within the community. Their narratives show the threats to a culture of sharing and the challenges of subconsciously gravitating towards modern choices. In the work of Nwokolo, the death of the extended family system is strongly highlighted, its replacement with the nuclear family systems results in the fact that people who fall through the cracks no longer have a place of refuge.

In *One More Tale for the Road* (2003) the central character and matriarch challenges the concept of family and provokes critical questions on the notion of family dysfunction through her presentation of her patchwork family that is under threat from a society that has ostracized her. In championing education for her children and other children in Odozi, Ma Kanu provokes a social change that depopulates the village as their young ones are raised for more modern places. Migration to the city creates a loosely knit social framework that results in the inability of young people to cater for the elderly in difference to the tight social framework that once existed. Importantly as the Odozi people suffers a value shift, within the family spaces Ma Kanu tries to revitalize the non-material culture of storytelling with the hope that the reward will again trickle down.

Through these body of work, this study strives to understand the representations of developmental idealisms and how its values are expressed and conflicted. In studying them, I will determine the processes that lead to cultural extinction in their societies, and the remedial interventions that are adopted to save a dying culture. I believe the adoption of Chuma Nwokolo's works further adds novelty to my research as his work has been under-utilized within the spaces of academic research.

1.9 Significance of Study

This study aspires to establish an understanding of how the adoption and practice of development ideas influences individuals and their society. In examining the representations of development, it also questions its validity by looking also at its variances. Significantly, this study offers a new perspective by exploring extensively the developmental thinking and practices within the context of literary work. In this way it contributes to the efforts to strengthen the tenuous discourse on the linkages between literatures and development studies, thereby making literatures a source of authoritative knowledge on development (Lewis et al. 198).

Through exploring the argument that there is a linkage between the spread and practice of development and cultural extinction, it will advance discourse on the value of development, vis a vis culture. Theoretically, this study will contribute to the discussions of developmental idealism as it will not just determine its dissemination as most studies have done, but it furthers the discourse by determining the fate of cultural practices that are displaced by the coercive or consensual adoption of the values of developmental idealism in African societies.

Within the spaces of literary scholarships, this study is also important in the light that it examines a new work of literature; it will serve as the first academic analysis of the literary work *The Extinction of Menai* and expound on its important contributions towards the understanding of the impact of diverse development choices on cultural sustainability especially for minority groups in Africa.

Chuma Nwokolo represents one of Africa's best anthologists with twelve works to his name, and an impressive contribution to the African literary world. There are so far citations of his work (Murphy 286-95), articles on his works, especially *Diaries of a Dead African* (Osinubi 131-52) review journal publications (Nwokolo 82-7) and phethora of reviews of his other works in the media. At the time of this study, there is no known substantive scholarly study so far conducted that has investigated his collection of work holistically especially in relation to development discourse. This study therefore addresses these gaps.

Strengthening the connection between culture and sustainable development is a central goal of organizations such as the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). A part of the UNESCO mandate is the safeguarding of cultural heritage with a focus on preserving endangered cultural practices from fading away. By exploring cultural remedial interventions, this study lends value and offers insight to the mission of the United Nation towards cultural sustainability across the globe. Where adopted, the findings of this study will redound to the benefit of society by positively influencing policy decisions on cultural sustainability.
1.10 Scope and Limitation

Consistent with the tradition of research, this study has limitations. The parameters of the study are limited to the scope of the narratives presented in the selected literary works of Chuma Nwokolo. All texts from three selected works, *The Extinction of Menai* (2018), *Diaries of a Dead African* (2003), and *One More Tale for the Road* (2003) will be studied. However, owing to its form as a collection of short stories, *The Ghost of Sani Abacha* (2012) will be limited to the following stories: *Bullfight, Seer & Sons, A history of human servitude, The Roman job offer, The provocation of Jay Galamba, The redemption of Pati Mugodo, The butcher's revenge, The Las' Foolscap and The Ghost of Sani Abacha.*

The main thrust of this study is to investigate how developmental idealism can contribute to cultural extinction. It will limit its core space of examination to the societies as presented by the author while drawing inferences, where necessary from related events in African historical studies.

This study strives to understand the representations of the values and features of the developmental idealism theory as presented by Arland Thornton (Thornton 1-2). It explores the processes of negotiations and resistance that lead to cultural extinction in traditional African societies as a result of the presence of the values of developmental idealism. It further examines the remedial approaches adopted in line with the proposals of Eric Yamamoto (Yamatoto 10-11).

While this study will explore broader literature to enrich the analysis and further highlight related phenomena in African history, this study is limited to the selected work of African literature, and also to the theories of developmental idealism (Thornton 1-2), cultural extinction and Yamamoto's fourfold framework (Yamamoto 10-11).

1.11 Definition of Key Terms

Also noteworthy are the definitions of key terms relevant to the context of these studies:

Development: Development can be defined as the processes that bring about social change for the improved well-being of people. Essentially, it implies the movement upward of the entire social system (Myrdal 729), through a multi-dimensional approach, intricate programmes and practices resulting in major changes in popular thought, attitude, and physical realities (Todaro 16).

Developmental idealism: These are widespread ideas, and theories of socioeconomic development held by people about everyday life. Characterized as Eurocentric, developmental idealism represents a belief and value system stating that societal and familial attributes that are characterized as modern are better than attributes defined as traditional. It defines whatever is characterized as modern as good and moral, and views the traditional and undeveloped as backward, bad and immoral (Thornton 2).

Culture: Culture is defined as a particular way of life, of a group, a people or a period (Williams 90), it is behaviour, ideas and values communicated or transmitted from one generations or contemporaries to another. It is the entirety of a people's way of life as gleaned from material and non-material features of their life; their values, beliefs, clothing, artefacts morals, customs among others (Mbakogu 37). It is the collective programming of the mind that differentiates the groups of people from others (Hofstede 5). Essentially culture is learned, associated with a social group, an individual and social construct, with interrelated parts, having both universal and distinctive elements, subject to gradual change occurring as a result of both internal and external forces (Spencer-Oatey 2).

Cultural extinction: Cultural extinction is the risk or actuality of complete loss of cultural elements that are distinctive and essential to the identity of a specific cultural group. These elements include language of communication, rituals, religion, morals, beliefs, and customs (Nickerson et al. 227). Cultural extinction is understood as a failure of copying or social learning to replicate a culture (Hartley and Pott 187). It is the disappearance of peculiar differences in inter-group culture.

1.12 Thesis Structure

For a cohesive work, it is imperative that text structures must be organized with a logical flow. Orderly presentation of this study will ensure that the ideas and concepts espoused are fashioned in a coherent way. This will ensure that the meanings are conveyed effectively. Consistent with the structural features of theses, this thesis will be schematically arranged in a progression that begins with a standard introduction and ends with a conclusion, covering five chapters. The roadmap for the readers on the organization of this work is presented below.

The first chapter of this thesis presents the background of the topic. It offers an overview of the key points of the study with a brief review of the contemporary knowledge on the issues, indicating the key gaps in knowledge. Furthermore, it relays the objectives of the study and the research questions in tandem with the established gaps. Also, the choice of the texts selected for this study will be justified. Additionally, it presents the significance of study while narrowing the study scope by defining its limitations. In general, this chapter justifies and sets the tone of the study by outlining the thesis structure for clarity.

The second chapter in the study presents the review of literature; it offers an evaluation of previous opinions espoused, and research conducted in the proposed study areas to ensure that the identified knowledge gap which the study potentially aims to address is informed by evidence.

The third chapter of this study will present the conceptual framework, and the methods of analysis. Theories which form the foundation of the data analysis will be presented in great details. In depth discussion of the theory of developmental idealism cultural model by Arland Thornton and the concept of cultural extinction as propounded by diverse authors will be presented here to explain their relevance to the study. Likewise Eric Yamamoto's framework for inter-racial and intercultural justice will be discussed in details for ease of application in the overall conceptual framework for the study. It further presents the methodology; the choice of approach adopted for this study is highlighted as textual analysis. In this chapter, the key value of textual analysis as the choice approach for gathering data for the study is demonstrated.

The analysis of the study begins with chapter four. In this chapter, the first, second and third research questions will be addressed in parts. Specifically, the first part will focus on analysing how the values of developmental idealism are represented in selected works of Chuma Nwokolo. Using the four selected novels as its site of enquiry and adopting the theoretical lens of developmental idealism, it will sieve through the interactions of the characters in their fictional societies to determine if and how the values they hold are in sync with the values of developmental idealism.

The second part will present an analysis of the second research question to determine the processes that lead to cultural extinction. In relation to the question, this chapter will explore how the values of developmental idealism it has established in the first part of the analysis intersect with cultural extinction in selected works of Chuma Nwokolo. The concept of cultural extinction as defined within the context of this study will serve as a lens for determining the consequential effects of the adoption of the values of developmental idealisms.

The last part of this chapter will present an analysis of the third research question. Where cultural extinction is determined, this chapter will try to establish what cultural remedial interventions are adopted to revitalize culture in the selected works of Chuma Nwokolo. To achieve this systematically, it will adopt the Eric Yamomoto's framework for addressing injustice, understudying each of the four components of combined enquiry and action (recognition, responsibility, reconstruction and reparation) to determine its applicability as a cultural remedial mechanism in the works of Chuma Nwokolo.

All parts of this chapter generally reports the analysis in a systematic manner, outlining the facts of the research. All analysis here will be done in relation to the specific theories adopted in designing this study. In this case, the developmental idealism theory by Arland Thornton, Eric Yamamoto's 'Four R framework' and the concept of cultural extinction as developed for this study will be applied in this chapter. Each parts of this chapter will be concluded by presenting discussions in relation to the findings from all selected works. An understanding and interpretation of the significance of the findings from each objective will be laid out. Further questions and gaps established through the findings will also be discussed. It will be important to place the work in wider scholarships; this will involve using a supporting evidence base generated from academic sources. Where and when applicable, excerpts of discussion with the author Chuma Nwokolo will be applied to further demonstrate his views.

Chapter Five being the last chapter, ensures that this thesis bites itself in the tail by presenting a summing up of the questions and findings. In concluding the thesis, it will demonstrate how the set objectives of this study has been met. The most significant findings, limitations and challenges of the study will be presented as well as suggestions for future studies in this area.

1.13 Conclusion

In this chapter, an introduction of the fundamental aspects of the study was presented. Beginning with a discussion on the background to the study, an overview of why the relationship between development and cultural extinction deserves a study has been made. Amongst other things, the scope of the study, its significance, scope and definition of key terms used in the context of the study, have been shared.

In this chapter the statement of problem has been detailed to aid understanding on why this study is relevant and to inform the study objectives and research questions. Although the statement of problems highlights key gaps through review existing literature, in line with the structure of the thesis shared in this chapter, the following chapter will further expand the literature review to foreground existing thoughts on the study topic.

REFERENCES

- Abrahamsen, Rita. "Blair's Africa: The Politics of Securitization and Fear." *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political*, vol. 30, no. 1, 2005
- Achebe, Chinua. "An Image of Africa." The Massachusetts Review 18.4 (1977): 782-794.
- Achebe, Chinua. Anthills of the Savannah. Oxford: Heinemann, 1988.

Achebe, Chinua. Things Fall Apart. Toronto: Anchor Canada, 2009.

- Adam, S. K. Extinction or Survival?: The Remarkable Story of the Tigua, an Urban American Urban Tribe. Routledge, 2015.
- Amakaze, Ositadinma. *The Last Carver*. Huston: Strategic Book Publishing & Rights Co. 2013.
- Anand, Sudhir, and Amartya Sen. "The Income component of the human development index." *Journal of Human Development* 1.1 (2000): 83-106.
- Andrews, Nathan. "Foreign aid and development in Africa: What the literature says and what the reality is." *Journal of African Studies and Development* 1.1 (2009): 8.
- Anyadike, Chima. "Duality and Resilience in Chinua Achebe's Things Fall Apart." *Philosophia Africana* 10.1 (2007): 49-58.
- Arowolo, Dare. "The effects of western civilization and culture on Africa." *Afro Asian Journal of Social Sciences* 1.1 (2010): 1-13.
- Banerjee, Subhabrata B. Corporate Social Responsibility: The Good, the Bad and the Ugly. Cheltenham, Glos, UK: Edward Elgar, 2007. Print.
- Batibo, Herman. Language decline and death in Africa: Causes, consequences, and challenges.132. Multilingual Matters, 2005.
- Baudrillard, Jean. "Modernity." *Canadian Journal of Political and Social Theory*. Vol. 11.3 (1987): 63-72.
- Bell, Adrian Viliami. "The only way for minority cultural survival." *Nature Human Behaviour* 2.3 (2018): 176.
- Bennardo, Giovanni, and Victor de Munck. "Cultural Models: Genesis, Methods, and Experiences". Oxford: Oxford University Press, April 16, 2014. Oxford Scholarship Online.

Bhabha, Homi K. The location of culture. London: Routledge, 1994.

- Binstock Georgina, Thornton Arland. Knowledge and Use of Developmental Thinking About Societies and Families Among Teenagers in Argentina. Demográfia. 2007;50:75–104.
- Bräutigam, Deborah A., and Stephen Knack. "Foreign aid, institutions, and governance in sub- Saharan Africa." *Economic development and cultural change* 52.2 (2004): 255-285.
- Brenzinger, Matthias, Bernd Heine, and Gabriele Sommer. "Language death in Africa." *Diogenes* 39.153 (1991): 19-44.
- Boli, John, and George M. Thomas. "World culture in the world polity: A century of international non-governmental organization." *American sociological review* (1997): 171-190.
- Cabaj, Mark. "The Poverty Matrix: Understanding Poverty in Your Community." A *Tool for Vibrant Communities: Tamarack* (2004).
- Carbonnier, Gilles. *Official development assistance once more under fire from critics*. Vol. 1. No. 1. Institut de hautes études internationales et du développement, 2010.
- Chang, Robert S. "Facing History, Facing Ourselves: Eric Yamamoto and the Quest for Justice-Eric Yamamoto, Interracial Justice: Conflict and Reconciliation in Post-Civil Rights America, New York: New York University Press, 1998, 330 pp." *Mich. J. Race & L.* 5 (1999): 111.
- Chuanqi, He. "Modernization Science and Modernization Policy. "Global Modernization Review": New Discoveries and Theories Revisited. 2015. 41-55.
- Chuanqi, He, & Alberto, Martinelli (Eds.). (2015). *Global Modernization Review: New Discoveries And Theories Revisited*. World Scientific.
- Clammer, John. "Culture, development, and social theory: On cultural studies and the place of culture in development." *The Asia Pacific Journal of Anthropology* 6.2 (2005): 100-119.
- Coleman, Alfred. "Preservation of indigenous wood carving knowledge of African traditional people through the use traditional wood carvers database framework (Twcdf)." (2016).
- Colter Mitchell, Dirgha J. Ghimire, and. Thornton, Arland, "The measurement and prevalence of an ideational model of family and economic development in Nepal." *Population* studies 66.3 (2012): 329-345.

Connolly, Anthony J., ed. Indigenous rights. New York: Routledge, 2017.

Corinna Unger, "Histories of Development and Modernization: Findings, Reflections, Future Research." *H-Soz-u-Kult* S (2010).

- Cornell, John B. "Ainu assimilation and cultural extinction: acculturation policy in Hokkaido." *Ethnology* 3.3 (1964): 287-304.
- Crush, Jonathan. Power of Development. London. Routeledge. 1995.
- Crystal, David. English as a Global Language: Second Edition. New York Cambridge University Press, 2003
- Crystal, David. "What Is Language Death?" *Language Death*. Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 2002.
- Cunneen, Chris. "Reparations and restorative justice: Responding to the gross violation of human rights." *Restorative justice and civil society* (2001): 83-98.
- Da Costa, Dia. "Introduction: relocating culture in development and development in culture." *Third World Quarterly* 31.4 (2010): 501-522
- Daly, Kathleen, and Gitana Proietti-Scifoni. "Reparation and Restoration." Oxford handbook of crime and criminal justice (2011):207-253.
- Daly, Erin. "Reparations in South Africa: a cautionary tale." U. Mem. L. Rev. 33 (2002): 367.
- De Greiff, Pablo, ed. The handbook of reparations. Oxford University Press, 2008
- Draper, Patricia and Harpending, Henry, "Cultural Considerations in the Experience of Aging: Two African Cultures." *Anthropology Faculty Publications*. (1994):15-27
- Easterley, William. *The White Man's Burden: Why the West Efforts to Aid the Rest Have Done So Much Ill and So Little Good*. Oxford. Oxford University Press. 2006.
- Engerman, David C., Nils Gilman, Michael E. Latham, and Mark H. Haefele, eds. *Staging growth: Modernization, development, and the global cold war*. University of Massachusetts Press, 2003.
- Erasito, Emily Akata, and Elizabeth Inia. "The Rotuman Cultural Garland Amidst Modernism." www.rotuma.net.
- Escobar, Arturo. *Encountering Development: The Making and Unmaking of the Third World*. Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press, 1995. Print.
- Escobar, Arturo. "Discourse and power in development: Michel Foucault and the relevance of his work to the Third World." *Alternatives* 10.3 (1984): 377-400.
- Gardner, Katy, and David Lewis. *Anthropology, development and the post-modern challenge*. London: Pluto Press, 1996.

- Gienow-Hecht, Jessica CE. "Shame on US? Academics, Cultural Transfer, and the Cold War: A Critical Review." *Diplomatic History* 24.3 (2000): 465-494.
- Girvan, Norman. *Power imbalances and development knowledge*. North-South Institute, 2007.
- Goldsmith, Arthur A. "Foreign aid and statehood in Africa." *International* organization 55.1 (2001): 123-148.
- Greenbaum, Susan D. "In search of lost tribes: Anthropology and the federal acknowledgement process." *Human Organization* (1985): 361-367.
- Grusin, Richard. After Extinction. University of Minnesota Press, 2018.
- Guattari, Felix. "The three ecologies (trans: Pindar, I. and P. Sutton). London and New Brunswick." (2000).
- Hall, Lena E. Dictionary of multicultural psychology: Issues, terms, and concepts. Sage, 2004.
- Hartley, John, and Jason Potts. *Cultural science: A natural history of stories, demes, knowledge and innovation.* Bloomsbury Publishing, 2014.
- Head, Bessie. When Rain Clouds Gather. London: Heinemann Educational, 1987.
- Hodge, Joseph Morgan. "Writing the history of development (Part 1: The First wave)." Humanity: An International Journal of Human Rights, Humanitarianism, and Development 6.3 (2015): 429-463.
- Hofstede, Geert. Culture's consequences: Comparing values, behaviors, institutions and organizations across nations. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage publications, 2003.
- Hofstede, Geert. Cultures and Organizations Software of the mind. London: McGRAW-HILL Book Company. 1991
- Hurston, Zora Neal. Dust Tracks on a Road: An Autobiography. New York: HarperColins. 2006
- Islam, Mohammad Mahmudul, and Ratana Chuenpagdee. "Nomadic Fishers in the Hilsa Sanctuary of Bangladesh: The Importance of Social and Cultural Values for Wellbeing and Sustainability." *Social Wellbeing and the Values of Small-scale Fisheries*. Springer, Cham, 2018. 195-216.
- Irele, F. Abiola. "The crisis of cultural memory in Chinua Achebe's Things Fall Apart." *African Studies Quarterly* 4.3 (2000): 1-40.
- Jacobs, Babafemi. "Cultural Imperialism and The Evolution of 'White Africa'." *Lead City Journal of the Social Sciences (lcjss)* 1 (2014).

- Jerker Carlsson, N. Van de Walle, Gloria Somolekae, Nicolas Van de Walle. (Eds.) *Foreign Aid in Africa: Learning from country experiences*. Nordic Africa Institute, 1997.
- Jolly, Richard, Louis Emmerij, Dharam Ghai, and Frédéric Lapeyre. UN contributions to development thinking and practice. Vol. 5. Indiana University Press, 2004.
- Jordan, John O. "Culture conflict and social change in Achebe's Arrow of God." *Critique: Studies in Contemporary Fiction* 13.1 (1971): 66-82.
- Kamat, Sangeeta. Development hegemony : NGOs and the state in India / Sangeeta Kamat Oxford University Press Delhi ; Oxford 2002
- Kral, Inge, and Sumathi Renganathan. "Beyond school: Digital cultural practice as a catalyst for language and literacy." *Language Practices of Indigenous Children and Youth.* Palgrave Macmillan, London, 2018. 365-386.
- Landes, David S. Wealth and poverty of nations. London: Hachette, 2015.
- Lawson, Angelica Marie. "Resistance and resilience in the work of four Native American authors." *Thesis.* University of Arizona, 2006. https://repository.arizona.edu/handle/10150/193773
- Lee, Nala. Huiying and John Van WayJ. "Assessing levels of endangerment in the Catalogue of Endangered Languages (ELCat) using the Language Endangerment Index (LEI)." Language in Society, 45(2), 271.
- Le Carré, John. The Constant Gardener: A Novel. New York: Scribner, 2004.

Leith, Ross. African Woman. New York: Macmillan Publishers Ltd, 1967.

- Lewis David, Dennis Rodgers, and Michael Woolcock. "The fiction of development: Literary representation as a source of authoritative knowledge." *The Journal of Development* Studies44.2 (2008): 198-216.
- Lewis, M. Paul, and Gary F. Simons. "Assessing endangerment: expanding Fishman's GIDS." *Revue roumaine de linguistique* 55.2 (2010): 103-120.
- Lyons, Tanya. "Globalisation, failed states and pharmaceutical colonialism in Africa." *Australasian Review of African Studies, The* 30.2 (2009): 68
- MacDonald, Margaret Read, (ed.) *Traditional storytelling today: An international sourcebook.* Routledge, 2013.
- Madon, Shirin. "What Do We Mean by Development?" *e-Governance for Development*. Palgrave Macmillan, London, 2009. 9-32.

- Mahajan, Samir K. "Human Development Index—Measurements, changes and evolution."*Engineering (NUiCONE), 2013 Nirma University International Conference on.* IEEE, 2013.
- Manji, Firoze, and Carl O'coill. "The missionary position: NGOs and development in Africa." *International Affairs* 78.3 (2002): 567-583.
- Matsuda, Mari J. "Looking to the bottom: Critical legal studies and reparations." *HaRv. cR-cll Rev.* 22 (1987): 323.
- Mbakogu, Ifeyinwa Annastasia. "Is there really a relationship between culture and development?." *The Anthropologist* 6.1 (2004): 37-43.
- McKee, Alan. "A beginner's guide to textual analysis." *Metro Magazine*. (2001): 138-149.
- McKee, Alan. Textual Analysis: A Beginner's Guide. UK: Sage, 2003.
- Miller, James. "The Novelist as Teacher: Chinua Achebe's Literature for Children." *Children's Literature* 9.1 (1981): 7-18.
- Miller, Jon, and Rahul Kumar. *Reparations: interdisciplinary inquiries*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.
- Moore, David B. "Development discourse as hegemony: Towards an ideological history—1945–1995." *Debating development discourse*. Palgrave Macmillan, London, 1995. 1-53.
- Mooney, Pat "The ETC Century Erosion, Technological Transformation and Corporate Concentration in the 21st Century" *Development Dialogue* 1.2 (1999): 9-24
- Mouffe, Chantal. "Hegemony and ideology in Gramsci." *Gramsci and Marxist Theory* (*RLE: Gramsci*). (Ed.) London: Routledge, 2014.
- Mowforth, Martin. The violence of development: resource depletion, environmental crises and human rights abuses in Central America. London: Pluto Press, 2014.
- Moyo, Dambisa. *Dead aid: Why aid is not working and how there is a better way for Africa*. London: Penguin Book, 2009.
- Mull, Çiğdem Pala. "Clash of Cultures in Chinua Achebe's Things Fall Apart." *İdil SanatveDilDergisi* 6.35 (2017): 1893-1902.
- Murphy, Laura T. "The Ethics of African Studies in the Age of Oga Politics: A Response to Tejumola Olaniyan's "African Literature in the Post-Global Age"." *Cambridge Journal of Postcolonial Literary Inquiry* 4.2 (2017): 286-295.

- Myrdal, Gunnar. "What is development?" Journal of Economic Issues 8.4 (1974): 729-736.
- Nau, Heino Heinrich. "Institutional, evolutionary and cultural aspects in Max Weber's social economics." *Cahiers d'économie politique/Papers in Political Economy* 2 (2005): 127-142.
- Nickerson, Angela, Angela Bryant A. Richard, Brooks Robert, Steel Zachary, and Silove Derrick. "Fear of cultural extinction and psychopathology among Mandaean refugees: an exploratory path analysis." *CNS neuroscience & therapeutics* 15.3 (2009): 227-236.
- Nieto, Sonia, and Patty Bode. "Affirming Diversity: The Sociopolitical Context of Multicultural Education." Boston: Allyn and Bacon.2008.
- Niyonkuru, F. "Failure of foreign aid in developing countries: A quest for alternatives." *Business and Economics Journal* 7.3 (2016): 1-9.

Nwokolo, Chuma. The Extinction of Menai. Ohio: Ohio University Press. 2018

Nwokolo, Chuma. Ghost of Sani Abacha. Lagos: County Books. 2012

Nwokolo, Chuma. Diaries of a Dead African. Lagos: County Books. 2003

Nwokolo, Chuma. One More Tale for the Road. Lagos: County Books. 2003

Nwokolo, Chuma. "The Extended Family and the Trojan Horse." *The Massachusetts Review* 57.1 (2016): 82.

Nwokolo, Chuma. "Sentencing for Six." Agni 72 (2010): 171-178.

- Nyangweso, Mary. "Transformations of care of the aged among Africans a study of the Kenyan situation." *Aging & Mental Health* 2.3 (1998): 181-185.
- Ocampo, José Antonio, Anis Chowdhury, and Diana Alarcón, eds. *The World Economy Through the Lens of the United Nations*. Oxford University Press, 2018.
- Ogbomo, Onaiwu W. "Women, Power and Society in Pre-colonial Africa." Lagos historical review 5 (2005).
- Ojaide, Tanure. "Modern African literature and cultural identity." *African Studies Review* 35.3 (1992): 43-57.

- Orozco, Lourdes. "Animals in socially engaged performance practice: becomings on the edges of extinction." *Studies in Theatre and Performance* 38.2 (2018): 176-189.
- Osinubi, Taiwo Adetunji. "Slavery, Death, and the Village: Localizing Imperatives of Nigerian Writing." *University of Toronto Quarterly* 84.4 (2015): 131-152.
- Pala Mull, Çiğdem. "Clash of Cultures in Chinua Achebe's Things Fall Apart" *idil* 6.35 (2017): 1893-1902.
- Pieterse, Jan Nederveen. "The cultural turn in development: questions of power." *The European Journal of Development Research* 7.1 (1995): 176-192.

Portes, Alejandro. "Modernity and development: A critique." *Studies in Comparative International Development* 8.3 (1973): 247-279.

- Qing Lai, and Thornton Arland. "The making of family values: Developmental idealism in Gansu, China." *Social Science Research* 51 (2015): 174-188.
- Rahman, Fathu, and PriheSlamatinLetlora. "Cultural Preservation: Rediscovering the Endangered Oral Tradition of Maluku (A Case Study on Kapata of Central Maluku)." *Advances in Language and Literary Studies* 9.2 (2018): 91-97.
- Raouf, M. "To Make Our World a Gentler, More Compassionate World." *Traditional storytelling today: An international sourcebook*. New York: Routledge. (2013) 9-12.
- Rebecca, Hanlin and William Brown. 'Chapter 2 Contesting development in theory and practice', *International Development in a Changing World*. London: Bloomsbury Academic. 2013.
- Reiman, D. Will. "Basic oral language documentation." *Language Documentation & Conservation* 4 (2010): 254-268.
- Reyes, Giovanni. "Four Main Theories of Development: Modernization, Dependency, World-Systems, and Globalization." Graduate School of Public and International Affairs.University of Pittsburgh. http://sincronia.cucsh.udg.mx/reyes4.htm
- Riddell, J. Barry. "Things fall apart again: structural adjustment programmes in sub-Saharan Africa." *The Journal of Modern African Studies* 30.1 (1992): 53-68.
- Rist, Gilbert. The history of development: From western origins to global faith. Zed Books Ltd., 2014.
- Roach, Colleen. "Cultural imperialism and resistance in media theory and literary theory." *Media, Culture & Society* 19.1 (1997): 47-66.
- Rodney, Walter. *How Europe underdeveloped Africa. Nairobi.* East African Educational Publishers. 2009.

- Romaine, Suzanne. "Language Endangerment and Language Death: The Future of Language Diversity." *The Routledge Handbook of Ecolinguistics*. Routledge, 2017. 40-55.
- Ross, Andrew. Real love: In pursuit of cultural justice. Routledge, 2013.
- Rostow, Walt W. *The Stages of Economic Growth: A Non-Communist Manifesto*. Cambridge England: University Press, 1960. Print.

Rudolph, Susanne H. Transnational religion and fading states. Routledge, 2018.

- Saber, Ahmed. "The conflicts of cultures in the African novels of Chinua Achebe, CheikhHamidou Kane and Ferdinand Oyono." *ETD Collection for AUC Robert W. Woodruff Library*. (1976): Paper 2152.
- Sachs, Wolfgang, ed. Development dictionary, A guide to knowledge as power. London. Zed Book. 2010.
- Sarnoff, Irving. International Instruments of the United Nations. New York: United Nations Publication. 1997.
- Scott, Jesse James. "Disturbing the Peace: Cultural Narratives and Reparations." Thesis. University of Maryland Libraries,2007.
- Seargeant, Philip, and Elizabeth J. Erling. "The discourse of 'English as a language for international development': Policy assumptions and practical challenges." *Dreams and Realities* (2011).
- Searle, Alison. "The Role of Missions in Things Fall Apart and Nervous Conditions." *Literature and theology* 21.1 (2007): 49-65.
- Sen, Amartya. "Culture and development." World Bank Tokyo Meeting. 13. 2000.
- Sen, Amartya. "Human Development Index: Methodology and Measurement." New York: Human Development Report Office Occasional Paper. 12. 1994.
- Sen, Amartya. "The concept of development." *Handbook of development economics* 1 (1988): 9-26.
- Serap, Kavas and Thornton Arland. "Adjustment and hybridity in Turkish family change: Perspectives from developmental idealism." *Journal of Family History* 38.2 (2013): 223-241.
- Shivji, Issa G. Silences in NGO discourse: The role and future of NGOs in Africa. Fahamu: Pambazuka, 2007.
- Sullivan, Denis J. "The Failure of US Foreign Aid: An Examination of Causes and a Call for Reform." *Global Governance* 2 (1996): 401.

- Sinclair-Maragh, Gaunette, and Dogan Gursoy. "Imperialism and tourism: The case of developing island countries." *Annals of Tourism Research* 50 (2015): 143-158.
- Spencer-Oatey, Helen. "What is culture." A compilation of quotations. GlobalPAD Core Concepts (2012): 1-21.
- Sundram, Rahul Singh. "Culture Clash in Things Fall Apart." *International Journal of Research* 1.9 (2014): 613-616.
- Taj, Aamer, and Sadiq Ali. "Erosion of Kalasha's Religio-Cultural Identity in Northern Pakistan: Context, Causes and Implications." FWU Journal of Social Sciences 12.2 (2018): 35.
- Tanenhaus, Sam. *Literature Unbound: A Guide for the Common Reader*. New York: Ballantine Books. 1986
- Tangwa, Godfrey. "Democracy and development in Africa: Putting the horse before the cart." *Road companion to democracy and meritocracy* (1998): 2.
- Thornton, Arland. "International family change and continuity: The past and future from the developmental idealism perspective." *Demográfia English Edition* 53.5 (2010): 21-50.
- Thornton, Arland. "The Developmental Paradigm, Reading History Sideways, and Family Change." *Demography*, vol. 38, no. 4, 2001, pp. 449–465. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/3088311.
- Thornton, Arland. *Reading history sideways: The fallacy and enduring impact of the developmental paradigm on family life.* University of Chicago Press, 2005.
- Thornton, Arland. "International family change and continuity: The past and future from the developmental idealism perspective." *Demográfia English Edition* 53.5 (2010): 21-50.
- Thornton, Arland. "International Family Change and Continuity." *Marriage at the Crossroads: Law, Policy, and the Brave New World of Twenty-First-Century Families* 30 (2012). Cambridge University Press.
- Thornton, Arland, Shawn F. Dorius, and Jeffrey Swindle. "Developmental idealism: The cultural foundations of world development programs." *Sociology of Development* 1.2 (2015): 69-112.
- Thornton Arland, Binstock Georgina, Abbasi-Shavazici J. Mohammad, Ghimirea Dirgha, Gjoncad Arjan, Meleghe Attila, Colter Mitchell, Moaddel Mansoor, Xie Yu, Yang, Li-shou, Young-DeMarco Linda, M. Younth Kathryn. "Knowledge and beliefs about national development and developmental hierarchies: The viewpoints of ordinary people in thirteen countries." Social science research 41.5 (2012): 1053-1068.
- Thornton, Arland, Rachael S. Pierotti, Linda Young-DeMarco, Susan Watkins. "Developmental Idealism and Cultural Models of the Family in

Malawi." *Population research and policy review* 33.5 (2014): 693-716. Online version.

- Tipps, Dean C. "Modernization theory and the comparative study of national societies: A critical perspective." *Comparative studies in society and history* 15.2 (1973): 199-226.
- Todaro, Micheal.P. (1997) Economic Development (6th edn). London: Longman.
- Tsosie, Rebecca. "Acknowledging the past to heal the future: The role of reparations for native nations." *Reparations: Interdisciplinary Inquiries* (2007): 43-68.
- Ugwuanyi, D. M. "Postcolonialism and the Politics of Resistance in Ngugi Thiong'o's Wizard of the Crow." *UJAH: Unizik Journal of Arts and Humanities* 15.1 (2014): 68-90.
- UN DESA. Culture. Web publication. https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/mandatedareas1/culture.html
- Van Allen, Judith. ""Sitting on a man": colonialism and the lost political institutions of Igbo women." *Canadian Journal of African Studies/La Revue canadienne des études africaines* 6.2 (1972): 165-181.
- Wahab, Elias Olukorede, Saheed O. Odunsi, and O. E. Ajiboye. "Causes and consequences of rapid erosion of cultural values in a traditional African society." *Journal of Anthropology* 2012 (2012).
- Weir, Jennifer. "Chiefly women and women's leadership in pre-colonial southern Africa." HSRC Press, 2006. 3-20.
- Williams, Al-Yasha Ilhaam. "On the subject of kings and queens:" Traditional" African leadership and the diasporal imagination." *African Studies Quarterly* 7.1 (2003): 59-67.
- Williams, Raymond. *Keywords: A vocabulary of culture and society*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1976.
- World Bank. "Net official development assistance and official aid received:Nigeria" https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/DT.ODA.ALLD.CD?locations=NG
- World Commission on Culture (1996) Our creative diversity: report of the World Commission on Culture and Development; summary version. UNESCO Digital Library. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000105586
- Yamamoto, Eric K. Interracial justice: Conflict and reconciliation in post-civil rights America. NYU Press, 2000.

Yamamoto, Eric K., and Susan K. Serrano. "Reparations Theory and Practice Then and Now: Mau Mau Redress Litigation and the British High Court." UCLA Asian Pac. Am. LJ 18 (2012): 71.



BIODATA OF STUDENT

Adaobi Nkeokelonye is a Phd candidate in the department of Literary and Cultural Studies at the Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication, University Putra Malaysia (UPM). She holds a Master of Arts Degree in Development Studies from the Institute of Development Studies (IDS) at the University of Sussex, Brighton, England.

Ms. Nkeokelonye had prior and through her PhD candidacy worked in Nigeria's development sector as a social development researcher. Her over a decade career in this sector grants her the privileged experiences of working internationally and locally on broad spectrum of development issues. Her contributions in development research have been impactful in policy design and advocacy within Nigeria and the West African region.

Her background in development studies and her exposure to literary studies as a minor, is consolidated in her growing interest in exploring the linkages between works of fiction and development issues. She shares her learning journey on her website www.fictioningdevelopment.org

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Nkeokelonye, Adaobi. "Literature owes Africa a lot more than it has delivered": Chuma Nwokolo in conversation with Adaobi Nkeokelonye on literature and development." *Journal of the African Literature Association* 13.3 (2019): 326-337
- Nkeokelonye, Adaobi, and Hardev, Kaur Jujar Singh. "Rethinking Cultural Extinction: Representation, Identification and Preservation." *Journal of Language and Communication (JLC)* 6.2 (2019): 475-486
- Nkeokelonye, Adaobi, Hardev, Kaur Jujar Singh, Zariat Abdul Rani, Manimangai Mani. "Self-Immolation in *The Extinction of Menai* by Chuma Nwokolo". *3L: Language, Linguistics, Literature. 26.1* (2020).
- Nkeokelonye, Adaobi, Hardev, Kaur Jujar Singh, Zariat Abdul Rani, Manimangai Mani. "Ways of Dying in Diaries of a Dead African". *Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities.* (Submitted)



UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

STATUS CONFIRMATION FOR THESIS / PROJECT REPORT AND COPYRIGHT

ACADEMIC SESSION :

TITLE OF THESIS / PROJECT REPORT :

DEVELOPMENTAL IDEALISM AND CULTURAL EXTINCTION IN THE SELECTED

NAME OF STUDENT: ADAOBI NKEOKELONYE

I acknowledge that the copyright and other intellectual property in the thesis/project report belonged to Universiti Putra Malaysia and I agree to allow this thesis/project report to be placed at the library under the following terms:

- 1. This thesis/project report is the property of Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- 2. The library of Universiti Putra Malaysia has the right to make copies for educational purposes only.
- 3. The library of Universiti Putra Malaysia is allowed to make copies of this thesis for academic exchange.

I declare that this thesis is classified as :

*Please tick (V)



CONFIDENTIAL

(Contain confidential information under Official Secret Act 1972).



RESTRICTED



OPEN ACCESS

(Contains restricted information as specified by the organization/institution where research was done).

I agree that my thesis/project report to be published as hard copy or online open access.

This thesis is submitted for :



Embargo from		until		
	(date)		(date)	

Approved by:

(Signature of Student) New IC No/ Passport No.: (Signature of Chairman of Supervisory Committee) Name:

Date :

Date :

[Note : If the thesis is CONFIDENTIAL or RESTRICTED, please attach with the letter from the organization/institution with period and reasons for confidentially or restricted.]